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Inspection Summary: Inspections on December 13, 1984 and January 8, 1985
(Inspection Report No. 99990001/85-09)

Areas Inspected: As part of the inspections conducted by the State of
Washington at the Richland, Washington, burial site, four shipments of low
level waste from Air Products and Chemicals, Inc., Allentown, Pennsylvania
were inspected on December 13 1984 and January 8, 1985. The results of this
inspection are detailed in this report and the attachments.

Results: Three violations of NRC/DOT requirements were identified: Violation:
failure to ship material in strong tight packages; Violation: trailer contents
were not properly braced to prevent shifting; Violation: failure to correctly
label drums. «




DETAILS

Background

Beginning in the 1960's, Mercer Alloys, who was succecded by Whittaker
Metals Corporation, produced ferrocolumbium and ferronickel alloys using
an aluminathermic process at their site near Greenville, Pennsylvania.
This production occurred under the authorization of U.S. Atomic Energy
Commission (now the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, NRC) License N».
SMA-1018 (Docket No. 040-07455). Columbium ores and nickel scrar used in
this operation contained licensable concentrations of thorium, scmetimes
as high as approximately two percent by weight. Process slag coitaining
thorium was retained at the site. In early 1974 Whittaker term’nated
operations involving licensed material and the license was amerded to
authorize only site decontamination and storage of the proce<s slag con-
taining thorium. In late 1974, the property was sold to Exomet, Inc., a
subsidiary of Air Products and Chemicals, Inc., of Allentown,
Pennsylvania. Whittaker Metals Corporation retained title to and re-
sponsibility for the licensed process slag on the premises. Air Products
recovered various metals from scrap at the site. The process involved
meiting the scrap with various ingredients and resulted in a pure product
and a slag which was stored in piles. 1In mid-1984, a portion of the site
was sold tc Greenville Metals, Inc. and Whittaker Metals again took title
to the remainder of the property. Since June 1984, similar metal recovery
operations have been conducted by Greenville Metals, Inc. in the same
facility as was used by Air Products.

As a result of previous operations, decontamination efforts, and survey ,
the property was effectively divided into two radiologically different
areas by 1974. This division continues to the present, and consists of
(a) an area of process slag and contaminated rubble storage from the
Whittaker Metals Corporation (and Mercer Alloys) operations, and, (b) an
area actively used first by Air Products and then by Greenville Metals.

In letter to the NRL dated March 19, 1984, Whittaker Metals Corporation
requested that their license (License No. SMA-1018) be amended to delete
the area actively in use by Air Products as an authorized place of use.
This was to facilitate the sale of the property to Greenville Metals. The
NRC responded that a confirmatory radiological survey of buildings and
grounds needed to be performed in tho actively used area and, that, if
levels of radioactive contamination were below NRC criteria for release
for unrestricted use, the license would be amended to delete the arca and
release it for unrestricted use.

A confirmatory survey of the Whittaker Metals Corporation site was per-
formed by the Radioloaical Site Assessment Program of Oak Ridge Associated
Universities (ORAU) under contract to NRC during June 11-29, 1984. The
objective of the ORAU survey was to confirm the radiological data devel-
oped by Applied Health Physics, Inc., Radiation Management Corporation,
Westinghouse Environmental Systems, and Energy Impact Associates (EIA)




under contract te Whittaker Metals for comparison with NRC guidelines for
release for unrestricted use. Detailed radiation surveys were performed
in all areas of the property by ORAU. In the area of the property used by
Air Products, there were approximately 20 piles of slag generated in 1983
and 1984 by Air Products' activities. In eight areas of these slag piles,
contact exposure rates in excess of background and as high as 800 micro-
rem per hour were found. Three samples of slag from these recently gene-
rated slag piles had thorium-232 concentrations of 307, 144, and 0.97
pCi/g and uranium-238 concentrations of <65.1, <24.8, and 0.83 pCi/g, re-
spectiveiy. These results are from Table 7, page 53, of the attached
"Confirmatory Radiological Survey of the Former Whittaker Metals Corpora-
tion Property", November 1984, Several cther isolated areas of contami-
nation were also found. Approximately 50 pounds of scrap metal, labeled
“"Project NiA III", which had not yet been processed by Air Products, as
found to contain 2190 picocuries of thorium-232 per gram of metal (approx-
imately 2% thorium, by weight).

In July and August of 1984, attempts by M. Bock and H. Hart to locate the
origin of this "thoriated nickel alloy" scrap were unsuccessful. M. Bock
was a past manager of Air Products' activities at the site, and is now
president of Greenville Metals, Inc. and H. Hart was a raw material buyer
for Special Metals of New Hartford, New York, which was the scrap metal
dealer who sent this batch of "thoriated nickel alloy" to the Greenville
site for reprocessing.

In August of 1984, Whittaker was notified by NRC representatives that the
area occupied by Air Products could not be released for unrestricted unti)
the thorium contaminated materials were removed. Movement of this
material to the Whittaker slag pile, which will be retained under license,
would constitute an acceptable solution as would removal and disposal of
this material in a licensed disposal facility. It was subsequently
decided by Air Products that the contaminated material would be separated
from uncontaminated slag, be packaged and disposed of in a licensed burial
site by Air Products.

Based on information provided by representatives of Air Products, the
piles of recently generated slag were screened using a suitable survey
meter. Material which produced radiation levels of more than '3 microrem
per hour above background at three feet was selected for licensed disposal.
This procedure resulted in the segregation of approximately 1820 cubic
feet of contaminated slag out of a total of approximately 32,400 cubic
feet of slag screened. The 1820 cubic feet of contaminated slag was
placed in 242 55-gallon drums and sent in four shipments to the Richland,
Washington burial site on December 6, 1984 by Air Products. These ship-
ments were received on December 10, 11, and 13, 1984. As part of the
low-level waste inspections conducted by the State of Washington at the
Richland burial site, the shipments were inspected on December 13, 1984
and January 8, 1985, and found to be in violation of NRC/DOT regulations,
Washington (State) Administrative Codes, and U. S. Ecology's



Radioactive Materials License No. wWN-1019-2. The violations are detailed
in the attached report from the State of Washington. As a result of the
violations, the State of Washington banned Air Products and Chemicals,
Inc. from using the burial site and terminated their permit (8-1086)
effective January 21, 1985.

Based on the waste manifests for the 242 drums, the following is a
summary of the material shipped:

Tot | weight of drums 177,700 pounds
Total volume of waste 1,820 cubic feet
Total weight of thorium 1,067 pounds
Total activity (Th-232) 50 millicuries

Representatives of Air Products stated that the total weight of thorium
was obtained by multiplying the average concentration of thorium=-232 in
the three ORAU slag samples by the total weight of slag. The maximum
concentration of Th-232 in the ORAU samples was 307 pCi/g and the average
was 151 pCi/g. Assuming that thi- concentration is representative of the
waste shipped, the following calculations give the weight of thorium in
the shipment, since the thorium is essentially 100% Th-232 by weight. A
picocurie of thorium is equivalent to 9.14 micrograms. The specific acti-
vity of thorium=232 is 9.14ug/pCi.

Based on the maximum concentration measured:

177,700 1bs slag 307 pCi Th??2 9.14ug Th2?? 10-%g
g slag pCi Th232 ug

499 1bs Th232

Based on the average concentration measured:

177,700 1bs slag 151 pCi Th2*? 9. 14ug Th?3*? 10-%g
g slag pCi Th232 uq

245 1bs Th*3?2

M. Buck estimates that 1200 to 1500 tons of slag were produced from
mid-1983 to mid-1984 as a result of Air Products' operations. This
represents about 15% by weight of the scrap input. The main types of
scrap processed were magnetir metals, nickel chrome heat resistant alloys,
super alloys, tool steel, etc. M. Bock believes that most of the thorium
came from thoriated nickel scrap in the form of a2ircraft parts. Air
Products was not aware that the scrap contained thorium.

Only 200 pounds of scrap out of 5,000 tons has been rejected since radio-
logical monitoring of all incoming metal scrap with a micro-R-meter was
started in mid-1984. Rejected scrap metal is returned to the scrap metal
broker unprocessed.

On December 6, 1984, ORAU conducted additional surveys at the site to con-
firm that all appropriate meterials had been removed. The followup survey



findings are attached. ORAU concluded that the results of their measure-
ments confirm that remedial action activities were eff=-!.ve in removing
contaminated slag from the site and reducing radiatior ° Is.

Inspection by State of Washington

Shipper: Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.
P.0. Box 358
Allentown, Pennsylvania 18105
Shipments Inspected: December 13, 1984
January 8, 1985
Carrier: Tri-State
Trailer Numbers: 444548, 444544, 448191, 448102

Radioactive Waste Shipment Records: 44061, 44060, 44062, 44059

The four shipments consisting of a total of 242 drums of low specific
activity (LSA) radioactive waste were transported in exclusive use
vehicles. The trailers were dispatched to the Richland burial site on
December 6, 1984. The enclosed inspection documentation (Region V,

USNRC, Inspection Report No. 85-01/15000046 and State of Washington
Inspection Worksheets and Photographs) indicates the violations identified
during the inspections.

Applicable NRC Regulations

10 CFR 40.13(c)(8) exempts persons who possess up to 4% nickel-thoria
alloy in the form of finished aircraft parts from the requirements for a
lTicense. 10 CFR 40.13(c)(9) states that the exempticn does not authorize
the manufacture of such parts. A parallel regulation, 10 CFR 40.13(c)(4),
exempts tungsten and magnesium-thorium alloys. This regulation (10 CFR
40.13(c)(4)) also specifically prohibits "...chemical, physical or metal-
lurgical treatment or processing of any such product or part". While
there is no similar specific prohibition of the treatment or processing of
nickel-thoria alloys, the exemption contained in 10 CFR 40.13(c)(8) ex~
tends only to the possession of finished aircraft parts and does not
authorize the possession of nickel-thoria alloy in any other form, such as
slag. 10 CFR 40.22 grants a general license to persons who possess and
use no more than 15 pounds of source material at one time and no more than
150 pounds each year. Such generally licensed persons are exempt from,
among other things, the disposal requirements in 10 CFR 20, so long as
they comply with the requirements of the general license. However, there
is no exemption or general license applicable to persons who possess more
than 15 pounds of thorium at one tir2, or receive more than 150 pounds in
one year, if the thorium is in the form of nickel-thoria slag.



U. S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY C)MMISSION

REGION V
Report No. 85-01
Docket No. 15000046
Facility Name: U. S. Ecology, Inc.
Inspection at: Richland, Washington
Inspections conducted: December 13, 1984 and January 8, 1985
Inspector: 20/ 85
. J. Elsen, Washington State Inspector te Signed

Approved By: _%m«/ 2/ 20,01
R. D. Thomas, Chief

Nuclear Materials Safety Section Date Signed

Summary:

Inspections of December 13, 1984 and January 8, 1985 (Report No. 85-01)

As part of the inspections conducted by the State of Washington at the
Richland burial site, four shipments of low ievel waste from Air Products and
Chemicals, Inc., Allentown, Pennsylvania was inspected on December 13, 1984
and January 8, 1985. The results of those inspections which were received at
the NRC Region V office on February 4, 1985 are detailed in this report.

Results: Thirty-nine apparent violations of NRC/DOT regulations, Washington
Administrative Codes, and U. S. Ecologys' license WN-1019-2 were identified.
It appears that the NRC Region 1 office, the Dopartment of Transportation, and

the State of Washington are the appropriate organizations to take enforcement
action.




DETAILS

Persons Contacted

M. J. Elsen, State of Washington Inspector

Background

As part of the low-level waste inspections conducted by the State of
Washington inspector at the Richland burial site, four shipments were found to
be in violation of NRC/DOT regulations, Washington Administrative Codes, and
U. 8. Ecology's Radioactive Materials License WN-1019-2. The four shipments
were received on December 10, 11, and 13, 1984. A total of thirty-nine
apparent violations were identified. Pursuant to the abcve violztions, the
State of Washington banned the NRC licensee from using the burial site and
terminated Permit 8-1086 effective January 21, 1985.

Inspections

Licensee-Shipper: Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.
P. 0. Box 538
Allentown, Pennsylvania 18105
Docket No: 3006126

Shipments Inspected: December 13, 1984
January 8, 1985
Carrier: Tri-State
Trailer Numbers: G44548, 444544, 448191, 448102

Radioactive Waste Shipment Records: 44061, 44060, 44062, 44059

1. The four shipments consisting of a total of 242 drums of Low Specific
Activity (LSA) radioactive waste was transported in are exclusive use
vehicle. The above trailers were dispatched to the Richland burial site
on December 6, 1984.

2. The enclosed inspection documentation and associated photographs indicate
the violations identified during the inspections.



XK RAXXXXKX

STaT 00 W AN TN,

DIPARTMINT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICHS

(hm~p0 MNaving - v o

37_0;70{?4U'

p3606/26 January 21, 198%

«Air Products and Chemicals. Inc.
P.0O. Box 538
Allentown, Pennsylvania 18105

ATTENTION: Eugene Handwerk

Dear Mr. Handwerk: Permit #8-1036

This letter refers to a shipment of radioactive waste materia) sent to the
commercial low-level radiocactive waste disposal site operated by US Ecology,
Incorporated, near Richland, Washington. Your shipments 666892, 666893,
666594, and 666895 were sent on December 6, 1984, and received on December
10, 11, and 13, 1984. Inspections revealed the following violations of U.S.
Department of Transportation regulations, Washington Administrative Codes,
and U.S. Ecology's Radioactive Materia) License WN-1019-2.

Container Number
or Description Summary of Violations

Shipment Orums 1, 2, 3, 4, 13, Ten drurms had holes in ther.
ho. 666892 33, 40, 49, 55, anc 63 Lack of strong, tight packages.
4% CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Drum 46 Drur had a2 hole in it due to corrosion.
45 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Orums 17, 33, 37, &2 Loose ring bolts. Lack of strong,
and 53 tight package. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Drums 25 and 398 Drum 1ids not secured. Lack of strong,
tight package. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Drum 2 Broken drum ring. Llack of strong,
tight package. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Drum 87 Bent drum lip causing a non-strong,
tight package. 4% CFR 173.425(b)(1)




Afr Products & Chemicals, Inc.
Page Two

Shipment
No. 666892

Shipment
No. 6668032

Container Number
or Description

Drum 35
A1l 66 drums on this
shipment

A1l 6€ drums on this
shipment

A1l 66 drums on this
shipment

State of Washington
certification RHF-31

Orums 71, 74, 75, 76,
8C, 81, 83, 85, 96,
97, 103, and 120

Drums 7C, 72, 74, 87

and 120

Orum 111

Drum 80

Drums B anc 87

Drum 88

Sumrary of Violations

Loose drur ring. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

No weight class, or stability parkea
on drums as requirec¢ by US Ecology
License WN-1019-2(27)(k)

Drums had orly one DOT Radioactive
White-1 label applied to ther. The
labels had nc entries for content or
activity. The indiscriminate use of
Tabels which could be confused with
prescribed labeling is prohibited.
49 CFR 172.401(b)

Undersized ring bolts (less than 5/8
inch) on the 55 gallon drums.
US Ecology License Wh-1019-2(27)(i)

No bracing on this shipment. 49 CFR
173.425(b)(6)

Incorrect velume of waste listed on
the certification. In sections A and
C. WAC 402-18-530(3).

Loose rinc bolts. 4¢ CFR 172.425(b)(1)

Drurs had holes in ther. Lack of
strong, ticht packages. 43 CFR
173.425(b)(1)

NCTE: Drur 70 had two heles ir it.

Loose bung cap. 49 CFR 173.425
(b)(1)

Hole in bung cap. 4% CFR 173.42%
(b){1)

Loose dru~ rings. 4% CFk 173.42%5(b)(1)
Nondurable (illegible) waste class anc

stability merking. US Ecology
License WN-1019-2(27)(k)




Air Products & Chemicals, Inc.

Page Three

Shipment
No. 666894

Container Number
or Description

Drums 72 and 80

A1l 60 drums on this
shipment

Shipment 666893

Shipment 666894

Drums 129, 130, 144,
161, 166, 167, 177,
179, and 181

Drums 130, 131, 143,
146, 150, 152, 153,
155, 168, 170, 174,
and 176

Drum 1358

Drum 168

Drum 14%¢

Drum 161

- -

A1l 56 drums on
this shipment

Summary of Violations

These two drums had waste class and
stability markings on a noncontrasting
background. (White marking on white
drur.) US Ecology License Wh-10]1¢@-
2(27)(x)

Undersized ring bolts (less than 5/8
inch) on 55 gallon drums. US
Ecology License WN-1019-2(27)(i)

No bracing on this shipment. 49 CFR
173.425(b)(6)

No bracing on this shipment. 49 CFR
173.425(b)(6)

Loose ring bolts. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Lose drum rings. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Poppec up drum 1id. Lack of stron

<
tight package. 49 CFR 173.428(b)(1

)
Hole in drur due to corrosior. Lack

of strong, tight package. 4% CFR
173.425(b) (1)

Hole in drur apparently due tc a fork-
1ift puncture. Lack of strong, tight
package. 4% CFR 173.425(b)(1)

The classification of waste and
stability markings more than 6
inches from the Radioactive-LSA
marking. US Ecology License Wh-
10198-2(27) (k)

Undersized (less than 5/8 inch) ring
bolts on S5 gal. drums. US Ecology
License WN-10199-2(27)(1)



Afr Products & Chemicals, Inc.

Page Four

Shipment
No. 666895

Container Number
or Descrintion

RSP 4406)

Drums 199, 201, 209,
213, 224, 225, and
228

Drums 187, 189, 191,
194, 197, 202, 206,
209, and 222

Drums 188, 189, 198,
207, 217, 228, 230,
236, and 242

Drum 225

Drur 22¢

Drums 231, 190, and
23¢

A1l 60 drums on this
shipment

666895

RSR 44062

Summary of Violations

No listing for the radionuclides Tritiur,
C-14, TC-99, and 1-129 on the first

page of the manifest. US Ecology

License WN-1019-2(29)(d) states in

part that the total shall be listed

if the total is zero (nil) the entry
should be "0."

Seven drums had holes in ther either
due to rust or forklift puncture.
Lack of strong, tight package.

49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

NOTE: Drum 209 had two holes in it.

Drums had lose rings. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Loose ring bolts. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Loose bung caps. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Poppec up drur 1id. Lack of strong,
tight package. 49 CFR 173.425(b)(1)

Drums had dented drum rims which caused
non-strong, tight textures. 45 CFR
173.425(b)(1)

Undersized ring bolts on &% gz2llon
drums (less than 5/8 inch). US
Ecology License WN-1019-2(27)(i)

No bracing on this shipment. .
45 CFR 173.425(b)(6) '

No listing for the radionuclides
Tritiur, C-14, 1C-99 or 1-129 or
cover s*eet. If the quantity is
zero (-0-, then zero should be
listed in the appropriate spaces.
US Ecology License WN-1019-2(2¢)(¢)



Air Products § Chemicals, Inc.
Page Five

Because of the nature of the viclations found on these shipments anc

since this was a cne-time only shipment, authorization to use the comrercial
Tow-level radioactive waste disposal site by Air Products and Chemicals,
Inc., Permit 8-1086 has been terminated,

T ——
Sincerely,

/
E. Lee Gronemyer ,“Manager
Racioactive Waste Program

R Bk o

Radiation Health Physcist
505-545-2313

ELG:MIE :pm

cc: US Ecology, Louisville, KY
US Ecology, Richland, WA
Joel Lubenau, Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Mikel J. Elsen, DSHS Radiation Control
Lee Kegley, UTC
Robert Thomas, Region V, USK3( =
Thomas M. Gerusky, Pennsylvenia
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WASTE PACKAGING AND SHIPMENT INSPECTION RECORD

Tne enclosed inspection formais consisting of SHIPPING DOCUMENTATION, RADIO-
LOGICAL SURVEY DATA, and VISUAL FEATURES are to be completed by the State
inspector ONLY when an item of noncompliance has been {dentified, and ONLY
when an NRC Ticensee is involved. ONLY the particular format associated with
the item of noncompliance needs to be completed in addition to the shipment

identification page.

SHIPMENT IDENTIFICATION

Licensee/Shipper

Name_f.¢ Prrducts & Chemicars Tuc

City L State Gft(hu-'lle: PA.

groker
Name AN-A

City & State =

Carrier

Name Teri- Stare

Trailer No. Y9219’

Shipment Inspected
Date /- ¥s Time__A.m.

Describe the Shipment (Number of boxes, drums, etc.)

L LSA QO Other (00T 1, II, II1 LABELS)

6 dwmg aqalinis cag LA
Slaas 4 untelbls waile

/ /57

%/J C (‘/&'L 1)




DATE

/A

SHIPPING DOCUMENTAT JON

TIME INSPECTOR

Shipning Papers

Freight Bill No.

Carrier:

Broker:
Name

City & State

Generator:
Name

City & State

Certification O YeS
OnwN

Shipment: Exclusive use
Instructions for Exclusive use (O YES

Nonexclusive use O

Type A Certification cf Compliance for Type "B"
Shipment OVYES Ono
Proper Shipping Name,Class Oves Ono

REMARKS

1€:V Form

(ONO

604 (a)




RADIOLOGICAL SURVEY DATA /\)/44

DATE TIME INSPECTOR

INSTRUMENT DATA

Radiation Levels Monitor Smears

Make

Model

S/N

Calib. due date

SURVEY RESULTS (mr/hr)
Cab No.

Level

Sketch in
Cargo Placement
and Smear Locations

Trailer No.

Maximum at surface
Maximum at 2 meters

SMEAR DATA REMARKS

Identify locations by “"x" and
whether on vehicle surface or
- packages.

B

IE:V Form 604 (b)




VISUAL FEATURES (As Applicable)

DATE (-9-2 S TIME INSPECTOR _ D). & K
k . CGNW
TYPE VEHICLE: Closed
Open
Other
PLACARD DATA Front YES NO
Rear YES NO
Right QYES NO

Left CYEs ONO

Gereral Conditions of Package(s) Vevy Peer
e

ce b ki M tute i{!\)nl"(.—v

C‘M“‘!é h‘c:x:ﬁtt" [c’\ecsl-‘* '-'U”-A-:p’

” N *\‘ ?‘fb’?hsyufc '”+I'G~S. )

Blocking, Bracing, Tie-Down Adejuate? AD

Ao BeRci e Use ¢
= |

MARKING YES NO
Marked Radioactive LSA Q O
LABEL ING

Proper Labels O G‘
Label Entries Filled In @) (42}

REMARKS :

QCums waw pew /)A% avd d_g‘z;f

IE: V Form 604 (c)
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Tk 0 - 4/'({ 5 Ic’ , ‘ HASHIW S!'A‘l'! PATIOI.
CRITICAL ITEM TRUCK aqumum INSPECTION
b DATE TIME LOCATION PERS./ TEAM #
wac>d | £ o = 7| X cut %
REG. OWNER _ OV ode -
_ADDRESS ITY A
e W 2 ‘ﬁir'\ikxx\ tla 4 /[>4
1 LIT. 2 LIC. \ LE] uc.
& -‘/ — 1 v'q?,o wif i J:
) Ef , YPE
s e AT ey [P
i BRAKE ADJUSTMENT
O~ LEFT STICKER NO
~ I 71|/ ]/
% RIGHT 3
-, /) |7 [/
,*—) Lo Qoo =~CX
AIRLOSS VEHICLES 1
sj APPLIED
UNAPPLIED

/ , LOW ATR WARNING DEVICE
- BRAKE ADJUSTMENT
Z BRAKE COMPONENTS/HOSES/DRUMS/SHCES/VALVES | ;o
" 'STEERING_COMPONENTS
_ WHEELS - CRACKS/LOOSE NUTS
- TIRES - WEAR/DEFECTS
<] DRAWBAR/FIFTH WHEEL

. STRUCTURAL/FRAME/SPRINGS

+ LICHTS/TURN/STOP
.~ COMMENTS

Sy - 1

! ‘ / = =

TR e [ oo E

- /

td

jé\\\\) -75//() (-“A"\\h I‘X‘A‘A Lx*.v_ll_%__
-, INTERSTATE [ ] i (INTRASTATE )
> HAZARDOUS MATERIAL [y TYPE— At ook v

PRIVATE CARRIER | | ~ COMMON CARRIER [ L CONTRACT CARKIER o |

, WHITE COPY - HDQ. W/C OFFICE  YELLOW COPY - OFFICER'S BLUE BOOK
,. PINK COPY - WUTC GOLD COPY - DRIVER'S COPY

WSP-WC-009 1/80
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LOW-LEVEL RADIOACTIVE WASTE SHipmenT 28hing .
CERTIFICATION FOR COMMERCIAL GENERATOR/PACKAGERS,

AND BROKERS AND CARRIERS

The following certilication. completed as applicable. is made 1o the State of Washington

Certification is hereby made (o the State of Washinglon that Radiation Shipment Record No ‘ ‘{ ”Z— - Ollow-leveiradio-active waste has bee~
inspected in accordance with requirements of the Governor of Washington's Executive Order Caled November 19 1979, prior 1o 11s shipmen:
Further certification is made thal the inspection has revosied no items of non-complhiance with ail applicable laws, rules ang regulations

The undersigned shall indemnily and hold harmiess the State of Washington, in an amount not to exceed $1,000,000 00 per Individual who may be
Injured. provided that indemnitication shall not exceed $5.000,000.00 in total, for each occurrence from any and all claims, suits, losses. damage

unger this orger.
Except for any violation of spplicable existing state or fe 1eral statute or regulation respecting pac kagingand shipment, inspection ang acceplance

of any item, or container or material Covered by this certitication by the State of Washinglon or a duty authorized contractor shallrelease the party
who executed this cenificate trom aAny and all requirement of indemnification from injury or loss

SECTION A: .

FOR THE GENERATOR/PACKAGER ALLP ucrs £ LS, _ InC
(Company Name)

PEAMIT NUMBER. _?_LLD_EL

VOLUME OF WASTE IN THIS SHIPMENT. M ft’t f- P

pate _IT ¥ BY

v’

rme (ooRoINATOR oF lax1cotp gy

SECTION B: /I/A_
FOR THE BROKER

PERMIT NUMBER

(Company Name)

VOLUME OF WASTE IN THIS SHIPMENT

DATE BY

TITLe

FonTue canmen 1R | = STATE MoTor. TRANSIT

{Company Name)

VOLUME OF WASTE IN THIS SHIPMENT S 02- S (uitc Fee ZL

DATE _L';[(/_l.y BY __Aaéﬁ y -Sak

Tne LAWER F268

DSMS AnF.31a
DS™MS 13-42¢ (4190

- -

WO b
L el




[ wonsnsn/cnscxu ST
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